No. 9 My G (Court of Appeals, Division I Case No. 72830-0-I)

> SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

> > LUCINDA B. CARPENTER, Respondent,

> > > v.

BRADLEY A. CARPENTER, Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Barbara McInvaille Attorney for Appellant

ac agos at

Helland Law Group, PLLC 960 Market St. Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 572-2684

# **

# I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Bradley A. Carpenter.

. . . . .

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION

Bradley Carpenter seeks review of the decision of Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals issued under case number 72830-0-1 on April 20, 2015.<sup>1</sup> A motion for reconsideration was not brought.

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should this Court accept review of the decision issued by Division I?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A decree of legal separation and the subsequent division of

marital property entered by default underlies this appeal.

Appellant Bradley A. Carpenter is the respondent to a petition

for legal separation filed by his wife on June 13, 2013. CP 20 – 22.

Respondent Lucinda B. Carpenter is the petitioner in the legal

separation proceeding at issue in this appeal. CP 20 – 22.

Lucinda and Bradley Carpenter<sup>2</sup> were married on March 7,

1992. CP 21; VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 4. Lucinda filed a petition for

<sup>1</sup> This case was initially filed in Division II and assigned case number 45657-5-II, but was subsequently transferred to Division I for disposition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For ease of identification, the parties are referred to herein by their first names. No disrespect whatsoever is intended by so doing.

legal separation on June 13, 2013 under Pierce County Superior Court cause number 13–3–02263–9. CP 20 – 22; VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 5.

. .

In the petition, Lucinda pleaded that "the division of property should be determined by the court at a later date," providing no further detail. CP 21 at para. 1.8; VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 5.

With similar regard to debts and liabilities, Lucinda pleaded that "the court should make a fair and equitable division of all debts and liabilities" in the petition. CP 21 at para. 1.9. Lucinda did not name any specific items of property, debts or liabilities subject to distribution in the petition, nor did she assign any values to said property, debts or liabilities. CP 20 – 21.

On June 14, 2013, Bradley and Lucinda jointly filed for bankruptcy protection. CP 54.

That same day, June 14, 2013, Bradley executed an Acceptance of Service. CP 25; VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 5. Bradley acknowledged acceptance of the Order Assigning Case to Department, Summons and Petition for Legal Separation. CP 25. At paragraph 2, which refers to consent to personal jurisdiction, the document states "does not apply." CP 25. The Acceptance of Service was filed with the Court on July 16, 2013. CP 25. Bradley did not file a Response to the Petition, nor did he or anyone else file a Notice of Appearance on his behalf.

At that time, Lucinda was earning between \$9,000 and \$10,500 per month, exclusive of bonuses, and Bradley was earning about

\$2,000 per month. VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 5.

On July 17, 2013, Lucinda filed a Motion and Declaration for

Default. CP 26 – 30. In the motion, she stated under penalty of perjury,

# "the other party <u>has appeared</u> by signing the Acceptance of

Service, but has failed to respond." CP 27 at para. 2.5 (emphasis

added); VRP (July 17, 2013).

. .

In presenting the motion in the Ex Parte Department, counsel stated:

We're asking for an order of default. This case was served on the 14<sup>th</sup> of June. I've got the proof of service right here, the acceptance of service, **and there's been** <u>no appearance</u> or **response**. And we're not trying to enter a final. This is a petition for legal separation, we could, but we're not trying to enter any final at this time.

VRP (July 17, 2013) at 2 (emphasis added). Moreover, Lucinda did not seek the division of the property at that time, and there was no mention of or reference to the bankruptcy proceeding. VRP (July 17, 2013). The Court Commissioner granted Lucinda's motion. CP 31 – 32. Bradley was given no notice of the motion. CP 55; VRP (Nov. 15, 2013) at 6.

On September 25, 2013, the bankruptcy was discharged. CP 55,

63 - 66.

. . . . .

A Decree of Legal Separation and Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law were subsequently entered by the Court on

September 30, 2013 in the Ex Parte Department. CP 42 - 46; 37 - 41;

VRP (Sept. 30, 2013).

The following items were listed as community property in the

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:

- 1. 20% ownership in Treos Café;
- 2. 401(k) account in the name of Bradley Carpenter;
- 3. Whistler timeshare;
- 4. Residence at 5611 134<sup>th</sup> Street Ct., Gig Harbor, WA 98332;
- 5. Wife's 401(k) through Allstate with an account number ending in 753;
- 6. 2011 Jeep Cherokee;
- 7. Two (2) Havanese dogs

CP 38 (Finding of Fact 2.8).

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law also listed the

following community liabilities:

- 1. Any obligations related to Treos Café or Forza Coffee to the extent said obligation survives bankruptcy;
- 2. Chase Bank in the amount of approximately \$269,000.00;
- 3. OBEE Credit Union in the amount of approximately \$15,000;
- 4. Key Bank account number ending in 8731, balance approximately \$140,000.00;

5. Bank of America in the amount of approximately \$37,000.00.

CP 38 – 39 (Finding of Fact 2.10).

In the decree of legal separation, Bradley was awarded the

following property:

. . . . .

- 1. 20% ownership in Treos Café;
- 2. 401(k) accounts in the name of Bradley Carpenter;
- 3. Whistler timeshare;
- 4. 2005 Acura vehicle;
- 5. The parties' dining room set;
- 6. All of the furniture and contents of his office and residence;
- 7. All furniture acquired by husband prior to marriage;
- 8. His personal clothing and jewelry;
- 9. All other personal property in his possession except that expressly awarded to wife; and,
- 10. All bank accounts in his name.

CP 43 at paragraph 3.2.

In the Decree of Legal Separation, Lucinda was awarded the

following property:

- 1. Residence at 5611 134th Street, Ct., Gig Harbor, Washington 98332, subject to the mortgage obligation to Chase awarded to wife, as more particularly described on exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference;
- 2. Wife's 401(k) through Allstate with an account number ending in 753;
- 3. 2011 Jeep Cherokee;
- 4. Two (2), Havanese dogs;
- 5. All household goods, furnishings and personal property in her possession except those expressly awarded to Husband;

6. All bank accounts in her name.

CP 43 at paragraph 3.3. No values were assigned to any of these items

of property. CP 43 at paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3.

In the decree of legal separation, Bradley was awarded the

following liabilities:

. .