COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 JUN 10 PM 1: 26

STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 45657-5-II

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

.

Lucinda Carpenter filed a Petition for Legal Separation on June 13, 2013 (CP 20-22). On June 14, 2013 Lucinda Carpenter gave Mr. Carpenter the Summons and Petition for Legal Separation and an Acceptance of Service (CP 25). When she provided the Acceptance of Service to him, she told him exactly what it meant. She told him that it meant that he did not have to be served by a process server. and that accepting service had the same effect as would have occurred if he had been served by a process server. (CP 72, lines 6-10). Mr. Carpenter is very experienced in litigation. He was a defendant in a lawsuit related to a franchise purchase from him in February 2008 that was protracted litigation including an appeal to the Court of (CP 72). He was a defendant in Swensrud Appeals. litigation in Pierce County about another franchise sale in 2009. (CP 72). He was a defendant in Latitude Development v. Carpenter in King County in 2009 where he did not appear and a default judgment was entered. (CP 72). From that experience Mr. Carpenter knew that when he was served with a summons that he was required to appear in the action within 20 days of service or a default would be entered against him. (CP 72). He was sued in Optimum Recovery Services v. Carpenter in Pierce County in 2010. (CP 72). In that action, he knew what failing to appear could cause and he hired an attorney who appeared and defended. He was sued in Sannathy Corp v. Carpenter in 2010. (CP 73). He was sued again in Optimum Recovery Services v. Carpenter in 2011. (CP 73). With the history of all of that litigation Mr. Carpenter became familiar with reading legal documents and understood the effect of being served and the need to appear within 20 days to avoid a default.

Mr. Carpenter consulted an attorney about the Petition for Legal Separation after he accepted service of it, but did not hire an attorney. (CP 90). He claims he chose not to hire an attorney because he did not have the funds to do so. (CP 55). An order of default was taken against Mr. Carpenter on July 17, 2013, thirty-four days after he was served. (CP 31-32). The final papers were entered on September 30, 2013, more than one hundred (100) days after Mr. Carpenter was served. (CP 37-42 and CP 42-46). After the final papers were entered, on the same date as they had been entered, Mr. Carpenter, who claims he borrowed money from his parents to hire an attorney, entered a Notice of Appearance through counsel. (CP 36).

Counsel knew at the time the appearance was filed that the Order of Default had been entered and the final Decree had been entered.

The Petition for Legal Separation (CP 20-22) filed in this cause does not propose a particular property and debt division between the parties. Instead, it asks the Court to make a fair and equitable division of property and debt. Just shortly before the Summons and Petition were given to Mr. Carpenter and he accepted service of them, Lucinda Carpenter had given Mr. Carpenter her proposed division of assets. (CP 73). In his declaration supporting the motion to vacate Mr. Carpenter admitted that the property division proposed by Ms. Carpenter had been provided to him (CP 55). The portion of the property and debt division Ms. Carpenter had presented to him that Mr. Carpenter disagreed with is payment of the Key Bank that was estimated In the Findings and Decree at \$140,000.00 but has now been determined to be \$112,373.00. (CP 55, 76).

The parties filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy just prior to the filing of the Petition for Legal Separation and they have limited assets to divide. The community property divided between them is comprised of:

1. A 20% interest in Treos Café, a Washington company;

- 2. A 401(k) under the name of Bradley Carpenter;
- 3. A Whistler timeshare:
- 4. A residence in Gig Harbor;
- 5. A 401(k) through Allstate in Wife's name;
- 6. A 2011 Jeep Cherokee subject to a debt of \$37,000 that has negative equity;
- 7. A 2005 Acura subject to a debt of \$15,000 that has no equity; and
- 8. Two Havanese dogs.

The only debt that survived the bankruptcy was debt secured by the residence and vehicles of the parties.

Twenty-five days after the final Decree of Legal Separation had been entered, and more than three months after Mr. Carpenter was in default, he filed a motion to vacate. (CP 47). Three grounds were stated as the grounds for the motion to vacate.

The first ground asserted in the motion to vacate the decree was CR 60(b)(1). Applying that rule Mr. Carpenter argued that it was excusable neglect for him to have failed to appear because he did not know that he needed to do so. Mr. Carpenter's memorandum arguing that issue states:

In the present case, the final separation documents should be vacated pursuant to CR 60(b)(1). Mr. Carpenter was not represented by counsel because he could not afford an attorney. He believed that the Acceptance of

Service was notice to the court of his appearance and he mistakenly believed he would be notified of further court proceedings. Mr. Carpenter was operating under a misunderstanding. He had no intention of defaulting. This was a simple, understandable, mistake or alternatively, excusable neglect caused by his lack of financial resources to obtain an attorney sooner. (CP 50).

Mr. Carpenter's memorandum expressly admitted he was not entitled to a Notice of Default and it argued that CR 60(b)(1) constituted grounds to vacate because he mistakenly believed that his acceptance of service constituted an appearance that required notice of default. (CP 50, lines 15-22). He also argued that his lack of funds to hire an attorney constituted excusable neglect. (CP 50, lines 15-22). In his appeal to the Appellate Court and in his Petition for Review Mr. Carpenter did not argue that he is entitled to reversal of the trial court's order denying his Motion to Vacate the Decree under CR 60(b)(1) on the ground of mistake or excusable neglect. Whether or not the decree should have been vacated by the trial court under CR 60(b)(1) is not at issue.

As his second ground to vacate the decree contained in his appeal to the Appellate Court and in his Petition for Review Mr. Carpenter has not argued that the Decree should be vacated under CR 60(b)(11). After quoting that

rule, the entirety of his argument in the trial court as to why the Decree should be vacated under CR 60(b)(11) states:

In the present case, the final separation documents, which were entered by default, do not result in a fair and equitable division of property and liabilities. For this reason, justice requires that the final separation documents should be vacated pursuant to CR 60(b)(11). (CP 51, lines 4 through 7).

In his Petition for Review, Mr. Carpenter has not argued that he is entitled to reversal of the trial court's order denying his Motion to Vacate under CR 60(b)(11). Whether or not the decree should have been vacated by the trial court under CR 60(b)(11) is no longer at issue.

As his last ground for relief in the trial court, and the only ground addressed in the trial court that has been discussed in either his appeal to the Appellate Court or his Petition for Review to this Court, Mr. Carpenter argued that the Decree should be vacated under CR 54(c) because the relief exceeded the amount prayed for in the demand for the judgment. (CP 51, lines 10-24). The trial court denied a request to vacate on that ground because the Petition expressly provided notice to Mr. Carpenter, informed him that if he did not appear in the action that the property division would be determined by further court action without input from him. Mr. Carpenter makes an argument similar to

the argument he made before the trial court on this ground in his Petition for Review at page 16 and 17.

#### II. ARGUMENT

# THIS CASE HAS NO SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

Bradley Carpenter's Petition for Review asks this Court to consider review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) which sets forth, as a ground for review, an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. As authority for the proposition that the issues in this case are of substantial public interest, Mr. Carpenter cites Black's Law Dictionary's definition of public interest as being "of fundamental concern to the state and the whole of society. Nowhere in the argument, does Mr. Carpenter explain how the public has any interest in the outcome of the Carpenter dissolution action.

The closest analogy for determining definition of "substantial public interest" as set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(4) comes from the authority cited by the Supreme Court for reviewing moot question because they involve matters containing substantial public interest. The Washington courts have set forth a three-part test for determining the existence of a substantial public interest in that context. *Hart v. Department of Social and Health Services*, 111 Wash.2d

445, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988). In deciding whether a matter concerns a substantial public interest the three factors considered are:

- (1) Whether the issue is of public or private nature;
- (2) Whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and,
- (3) Whether the issue is likely to recur.

This case is of private nature. An authoritative determination will not provide future guidance to public officers and the issues sought to be reviewed by this Court are not likely to recur. This case does not involve public interest, and review should not be granted.

## PROPERTY DIVIDED WAS VALUED

Bradley Carpenter argues in his Petition for Review that the trial court's property division is against public interest because the property divided was not valued adequately at trial. This argument was not raised in the trial court and this court should decline to address it. *Washington Federal Savings v. Klein*, 177 Wn.App. 22, 311 P.3d 53 (2013), RAP 2.5. In addition to being raised for the first time on appeal, the argument is meritless because the Washington law is clear that an appellate court may look to the record below

before the trial court to determine the value of assets. *Green vs. Green*, 97 Wn.App. 708, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). There, the court said, at page 712:

The trial court is required to value the property to create a record for appellate review. If the court fails to do so, the appellate court may look to the record to determine the value of assets. (Citations omitted).

Mr. Carpenter was in default at the time of the property division and, as a result, he presented no evidence. The parties to this action had filed bankruptcy the day before the petition for legal separation was filed. It is undisputed that the non-exempt assets owned by the parties at the time of their filing bankruptcy was \$5,000.00 comprised of personal property that was not exempt in the bankruptcy. (CP 92) The findings of fact and conclusions of law listed the community assets. Every one of those assets except the time share was valued by the declaration of Lucinda Carpenter supporting the decree of legal separation. (CP 34-35) In that declaration Ms. Carpenter valued the house owned by the parties at \$475,000.00. She stated the value of her 401(k) account at \$19,000.00 and she stated the value of her car was less than the \$37,000 debt owed on it to Key Bank.

/////

////

Ms. Carpenter testified that her husband's 401(k) plan exceeded \$100,000,00. She did not have access to the account statements and could not provide an exact value. Mr. Carpenter did not dispute that value in his motion to vacate. Ms. Carpenter also testified that her husband's car was equal to the debt against it which was \$15,000.00. She testified that Mr. Carpenter's interest in Treos Coffee net of debt was worth more than the debt to Key Bank which was listed in the findings as being a debt of \$140,000.00. That debt later was established to be \$112,000 in the documents filed in connection with the motion to vacate. (CP 76). Other than the miscellaneous personal property that the parties owned and that was in the possession of each that Mr. Carpenter proved had a nonexempt value determined by the Bankruptcy Court at \$5000, the only two assets of the parties not valued were the Whistler timeshare that was awarded to Mr. Carpenter and two Havanese dogs awarded to Ms. Carpenter. The undisputed record at the time of the entry of the decree of dissolution provided the value of every asset awarded to Ms. Carpenter other than miscellaneous household goods and furnishings and two Havanese dogs. The only community asset awarded to Mr. Carpenter that was not valued is the Whistler timeshare. The trial court is

not required to value minor assets that are not significant to the overall property division. *Green, supra*. Further, Mr. Carpenter has not explained how he was damaged by being awarded an asset at without a finding as to its value. Even if Mr. Carpenter had properly raised this issue in the trial court to make it reviewable on appeal, the undisputed evidence before the trial court at the time of the entry of the decree establishes that the parties received the following net assets:

### Lucinda Carpenter:

Residence 401(k) 2011 Jeep	Value \$475,000 \$ 19,000	Net: \$155,000 \$ 19,000 Negative equity
Misc household goods and furnishings	Unvalued	Unvalued
Two Havanese dogs TOTAL TO WIFE	Unvalued	Unvalued \$174,000

### Mr. Carpenter received the following:

401(k) in his name	\$100,000+	\$100,000+
Treos Coffee	\$140,000+	\$140,000+
Whistler timeshare	Unvalued	Unvalued
Acura vehicle		0 EQUITY
TOTAL TO HUSBAND		240,000+

From that amount he was required to pay the Key Bank debt which turned out to be \$112,373.00. The major assets held by the parties were valued. Ms. Carpenter could do nothing more to value Mr. Carpenter's 401(k) that she claimed was

worth more than \$100,000.00. Mr. Carpenter, who has access to the information regarding value of that account has failed to provide the court any evidence that the account did not exceed \$100,000.00. The request of Mr. Carpenter to vacate the decree on appeal on the basis of a failure to value the assets, when the issue was not even raised in the trial court and the trial court record establishes the value of all significant property should be denied.

# MR. CARPENTER ADMITTED IN THE TRIAL COURT THAT HE HAD NOT APPEARED

In another argument that was not raised in the trial court, Mr. Carpenter asks this court to accept review because, he argues, his signing an Acceptance of Service constitutes an appearance in the action. That argument is contrary to the position taken by Mr. Carpenter in the trial court.

Mr. Carpenter admitted in the trial court that his acceptance of service was not an appearance, and he argued that his belief that the acceptance of service was an appearance was a misunderstanding that constituted excusable neglect. CP 50, lines 15-22, CP 90, lines 15-17. His counsel further admitted that at the hearing on the motion to vacate before Judge Arend (RP of November 15, 2013 hearing, page 7, lines 3-5) where she said:

He had no way of knowing that signing an Acceptance of Service wasn't sufficient.

She admitted the acceptance of service wasn't an appearance again at page 15 where she said:

My client did not understand that signing an Acceptance of Service also meant he had to file a pro se notice of appearance. Had he known that and filed it, we wouldn't be here.

She admitted the acceptance of service was not an appearance again at page 16 where she said:

Understanding or hearing the words "it's the same as a process server" does not put him on notice that he also has to file a notice of appearance.

By admitting in the trial court both in the pleadings filed and in oral argument that filing an acceptance of service did not constitute an appearance requiring notice of a motion for default to be given to Mr. Carpenter under CR 55(a) Mr. Carpenter invited what he now claims was error by admitting in the trial court that his acceptance of service was not an appearance and he was not entitled to notice of the motion for default. Even where constitutional issues are involved, invited error precludes review by the appellate court. State of Washington vs. Carpenter, 52 Wn. App. 680, 763 P.2d 456 (1988). In the instant case, RAP 2.5 precludes review of whether or not the acceptance of service constitutes an appearance because that issue was not heard by the trial

court. The invited error doctrine precludes the Appellate Court from considering even those issues exempt from RAP 2.5 for the first time on appeal even if the errors affect a constitutional right. *Carpenter*, *supra*. Mr. Carpenter and his counsel repeatedly acknowledged in the trial court that signing an acceptance of service does not constitute an appearance requiring him to be given notice of default. Mr. Carpenter did not preserve that issue for appeal both because of RAP 2.5 and because of the invited error doctrine. This Court should not grant review because the issue raised in the Petition for Review was not received for appeal in the trial court.

Mr. Carpenter argues that because there was an error in the motion for default filed by Ms. Carpenter stating that his acceptance of service constitutes an appearance meaning that Mr. Carpenter had appeared below. Had Mr. Carpenter raised the issue that the motion for default erroneously stated that Mr. Carpenter appeared by signing an acceptance of service, the error in the trial court, the erroneous language in the motion would have been corrected by filing a corrected document. The fact is, Mr. Carpenter did not appear in the action before the default was taken against him and his counsel admitted that he did not

appear in the action in the Motion to Vacate. Mr. Carpenter argued in his declaration that he did not appear due to excusable neglect and his counsel repeated three times in oral argument that his acceptance of service did not constitute an appearance. Mr. Carpenter's argument that a mistake in a pleading filed by Ms. Carpenter somehow changes the facts that occurred and the result that should be reached in this case is without merit.

### ACCEPTANCE OF SERVICE IS NOT AN APPEARANCE

There is no basis under Washington law for an argument that signing and acceptance of service constitutes an appearance in an action. The Washington Supreme Court severely limited what is sufficient to constitute an appearance after service of a summons and complaint in *Morris v. Burris*, 160 Wash.2d 745, 161 P.3d 956 (2007). In that case the court specifically held that a person who is served with a summons must do more than show an intent to defend, they must in some way appear and acknowledge the jurisdiction of the court after they are served and litigation commences to "appear". Civil Rule 4(g) provides that a written acceptance of service is proof of service in an action. The rule treats acceptance of service exactly the same as service by a sheriff or other authorized process server. A

party who voluntarily accepted service and then did nothing after accepting service has not appeared in the action. In Re Estate of Stevens, 94 Wn.App. 20, 32, 971 P.2d 58 (1999). In order to appear in the action, Mr. Carpenter had to take some action to acknowledge the pendency of the lawsuit and the jurisdiction of the court after he signed the acceptance of service commencing the litigation. Morris, supra. It is not disputed that Mr. Carpenter did absolutely nothing to acknowledge the lawsuit after he signed the acceptance of service. He did not evidence an intent to defend, he did not acknowledge the jurisdiction of the court, and he made his decision not to appear based on his perceived lack of funds to hire an attorney. (CP 55). Mr. Carpenter was expressly told that signing an acceptance of service had the same effect as would have occurred had he been served by a process server. (CP 72) he did not deny that fact and his attorney acknowledged that he was so advised on the record. (RP September 15, 2013 page 16) His acceptance of service did not constitute an appearance and he was not entitled to notice of a motion for default. This is an area of settled law. There is no reason for the Supreme Court to grant review in this case.

# RELIEF GRANTED DID NOT EXCEED RELIEF REQUESTED IN THE PETITION

In the only argument raised in this Petition for Review that was addressed in the trial court, Mr. Carpenter argues that the trial court erred in failing to vacate the decree because the relief taken exceeded the relief requested in the Petition for Legal Separation. In a two-paragraph argument at page 16 of his Petition for Review, Mr. Carpenter cites the basic rule that states that relief granted by default cannot exceed or substantially differ from that prayed for in a Petition. He does not, however, explain or even provide argument as to how the relief granted by the trial court differs from that prayed for in the Petition. The Petition asked the trial court to decide the property and debt division at a future hearing. It is not disputed that Cindy Carpenter filed both a declaration and verification in support of property division she requested. The Court Commissioner reviewed the file electronically before adopting the proposed property distribution. Mr. Carpenter has presented no argument as to how the relief requested differed from the petition or how it was a manifest abuse of discretion for the Court to deny the motion to vacate on that ground. Having the Court determine the property division without input from a party who is in default is expressly provided for by Civil Rule 55(b)

### (2). The rule states:

When Amount Uncertain. If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into effect, it is necessary to take an account or to determine the amount of damages or to establish the truth of any averment by evidence or to make an investigation of any other matter, the court may conduct such hearings as are deemed necessary or, when required by statute, shall have such matters resolved by a jury. Findings of fact and conclusions of law are required under this subsection.

In this case the Petition left the property division for further court decision. Lucinda Carpenter filed a declaration in support of her proposed property division and a verification stating that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree of Dissolution are true and correct best of her knowledge. The Court considered the evidence supporting the property division and granted it. Mr. Carpenter simply cannot argue that the relief taken exceeded that requested in the Petition because the Petition asked the Court to make the decision. That is exactly what happened. Because Mr. Carpenter did not appear the court considered only Ms. Carpenter's evidence in making the decision. Mr. Carpenter cannot explain how the relief granted by the trial court exceeded that request in the petition because it does not. The trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion in refusing to vacate the Decree based upon a claim that the relief taken differed from the Petition. Mr. Carpenter's Petition for Review on that ground should be denied.

# **CONCLUSION**

There is no issue of substantial public interest in this case. The issues raised in the Petition for Review involve settled areas of Washington law. The Petition for Review should be denied.